Claremont Colleges Scholarship @ Claremont

CMC Senior Theses

CMC Student Scholarship

2022

Designing Virtual Reality Headsets to Prevent Myopia

Kyril van Schendel

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cmc_theses

Part of the Biotechnology Commons

Recommended Citation

van Schendel, Kyril, "Designing Virtual Reality Headsets to Prevent Myopia" (2022). *CMC Senior Theses*. 2997.

https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cmc_theses/2997

This Open Access Senior Thesis is brought to you by Scholarship@Claremont. It has been accepted for inclusion in this collection by an authorized administrator. For more information, please contact scholarship@cuc.claremont.edu.

Claremont McKenna College

Designing Virtual Reality Headsets to Prevent Myopia

A Thesis Presented

by

Kyril van Schendel

To the Keck Science Department

of Claremont McKenna, Pitzer, and Scripps Colleges

In partial fulfillment of

The degree of Bachelor of Arts

Senior Thesis in Biology

April 25th, 2022



Table of contents

1. Abstract
2. Introduction
3. Background: Myopia and its possible causes4
3.1 Near work proximity and duration
3.2 Image sharpness
3.3 Sunlight exposure
3.4 Chromatic alterations
3.5 Peripheral defocus
3.6 Dopamine signaling
4. The relationship between VR and myopia11
4.1 Choroidal thickening in VR use
4.2 Improved visual acuity for myopic eyes
4.3 Vergence accommodation conflict
4.4 Blind spot stimulation
5. VR design recommendations16
5.1 Break reminders
5.2 Contrast
5.3Depth-color adjustment
5.4 Indoor scenes
5.5 Resolving the vergence accommodation conflict
5.6 Varifocal displays
5.7 Depth blur
6. Discussion
7. References

Abstract

Virtual reality (VR) headsets are currently being designed and developed for consumer use. Simultaneously, the rate of myopic development is increasing around the world. Little is known about the connection between the proximity viewing in VR headsets and myopic development. The past three decades of research have indicated a probable relationship between near-work activities and the development of myopia. Based on the current research, VR headsets do not appear to induce a strong myopiagenic stimulus on axial elongation. This paper offers a potential explanation and proposes a set of design recommendations for designing future VR headsets that prevent myopia.

Introduction

Virtual reality has become a trending technology in recent years. In 2021, Meta, formerly known as Facebook, invested 10 billion dollars into developing its VR technology.¹ Statista estimates the market size for VR to more than double between 2021 and 2024 from 5 to 12 billion dollars.² Classified as a near work activity, VR is experienced through head mounted displays showing images through lenses at close proximity to the eyes.³ The close viewing distances required for VR is an area of concern that needs greater attention as VR headsets developed.

Research from the past three decades has indicated a significant relationship between near work activities and the development of myopia.^{4, 5, 6, 7, 8} The term 'near work' describes any activity performed at a close viewing distance. Reading, writing, computers, phones and microscopy are examples of near work activities.⁹ As the amount of near work has increased ^{10, 11}, the development of myopia has risen in tandem. Myopia is a type of

3

refractive error that results in distant objects appearing blurry.¹² The World Health Organization estimates that over half of the world's population will have myopia by 2050.¹³ In the United States, the prevalence has increased from 25% to over 40% of the population between 1970 and the early 2000's.¹⁴ Left untreated, myopia can result in several complications including cataracts, glaucoma, and macular degeneration.¹⁵

Based on previous research comparing near work activities with the development of myopia, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the near viewing distances required for VR immersion could increase the development of short-sightedness. The current research however does not indicate that VR use is strongly associated with myopic development. This thesis will evaluate the current association between VR headsets and myopic development to determine how VR devices should be designed to prevent myopic development.

Background: Myopia and its possible causes

The development of myopia is a result of both genetic and environmental influences. Children with two myopic parents had a greater chance of developing the condition than children with only one myopic parent.¹⁶ Near work activities have been indicated as another source of myopic development.¹⁷ Amongst different near work activities, reading has been shown to have a strong association with myopic development.^{6,8}

Myopic eyes have several physiological differences compared to emmetropic (non-myopic) eyes. It is believed that myopic refraction, where light is focused before the retina, is caused by the abnormal axial elongation of the eye. Emmetropic eyes have an average length of

23.0 mm, while myopic eyes have an average length range of 22.1 mm to 27.3 mm.¹⁸ Figure 1 shows the axial length and refraction differences between emmetropic and myopic eyes. Differences in choroidal thickness have also been identified. The choroid is a vascular tissue located between the retina and sclera. Choroidal thinning is associated with myopic development.^{3,19}



Figure 1: Ocular differences between emmetropic eyes and varying degrees of myopic eyes²⁰

There are several near work variables which mediate myopic progression. Various studies have suggested that near work proximity, duration, image sharpness, contrast, and sunlight exposure can modify the degree of myopic development. Dopamine signaling and peripheral defocus within the eye have received strong support as mechanisms by which near work variables can regulate myopic eye growth.

Near work proximity and duration

Increased viewing proximity during near work has been correlated with an increase in myopic development. Near viewing distances of closer than 30 cm have been associated with higher odds of myopic progression.^{21, 6, 22} Uninterrupted durations of more than 30 minutes have also been found to increase myopic development.^{23, 6, 24} Specifically long

durations of reading have been shown to be significantly associated with myopic development. One possible explanation is that people do not accommodate enough when they read, creating a lag of accommodation.²⁵ Near work duration has also been associated with myopic development. A meta-analysis of near work myopia articles from 1989 to 2014, concluded that every additional hour of near work increased the odds of myopia by 2%.⁹ The myopic progression associated with close viewing proximity, uninterrupted durations, and total near work hours, suggests that reducing total near work hours especially with reading and taking more frequent breaks could remedy the development of myopia. Multiple studies report that taking breaks after continuous reading were significantly protective against myopic development.²⁶ One limitation in these assessments is that proximity and duration of viewing was largely self-reported, and thus may not be fully accurate.

Image sharpness

Deprivation of sharp imagery has been shown to increase eye growth. Image sharpness is a measure of how clearly a visual stimulus can be interpreted. In 1993, Weiss et al. were the first to find that chicks deprived of sharp imagery through occluders experienced greater nighttime axial elongation within days. It was found that retinal dopamine levels decreased by 30%.²⁷ Feldkaemper et al. found that eye growth in chicks doubled from 100 µm/day to 200 µm/day after chicks were deprived of sharp imagery through either diffusers or negative lenses.²⁸ While eye growth during the day remained constant, the increased nighttime growth resulting in the difference. The peripheral defocus state imposed by diffuser wear may modulate the be one way that diffuser suggests that defocus in the periphery offers a potential explanation for how sharp image deprivation during diffuser wear may regulate the release of dopamine by amacrine cells found in the retina.²⁸

Sunlight exposure

Outdoor sunlight exposure has been shown to have a protective effect against Myopia.^{29 30} ^{31 32} A positive association between outdoor exposure and myopic reduction is well documented in the literature.^{33, 34, 35, 36} Monkeys and chicks exposed to outdoor sunlight saw a reduction in axial elongation.^{30, 32} The study on chicks indicated that the effects of sunlight can be replicated with high luminescence laboratory lights.³² School children who spent 11 hours a week outside saw a reduction in rapid myopia development by 54%.²⁹ In a study tracking first graders it appeared that daily sunlight exposure of 40 minutes for a school year was enough to reduce the rate of myopia for the next three years.³⁷ It was found that indoor sports activities had no effect on myopic reduction, while outdoor physical activity did.³⁴ The absence of sunlight during indoor physical activity would explain why indoor sports do not reduce axial elongation. The corrective effects of sunlight exposure are believed to be mediated through the release of dopamine.³⁸ The protective effects of sunlight on eye growth suggests that daily sunlight exposure could be an intervention strategy to prevent the development of myopia in early age, and during periods of heavy near work. The pairing of near work breaks with sunlight exposure could implicate an efficient way to protect against shortsightedness. Findings suggesting the benefits of high indoor luminescence and the benefit of ultraviolet light could offer a potential option for myopia protection indoors.

Chromatic alterations

Different wavelengths of light have been shown to alter refractive states in the eye. Short wavelength violet light and long wavelength red light have been independently reported to reduce myopic progression. Violet light has been shown to suppress myopic development in chicks, mice, and humans.³⁹ Short wavelength violet light appears to induce a hyperopic

7

response by affecting the cones in eyes.⁴⁰ Interestingly, low-intensity red light therapy was an effective strategy for reducing axial elongation in children in East Asia.⁴¹ Red light therapy was performed for 9 months, twice daily for 3 minutes. Labhishetti et al. note that the different wavelengths of light induce varying refractive states at different distances. Longer wavelengths of light are sharply focused when the stimulus is far while short wavelengths of light are in focused more sharply when the stimulus is near.⁴² The chromatic contrast of visual environments may also have an influence on myopic development. Aleman et al. found that reading black text on a white background resulted in significantly thinner choroids while reading white text on a dark background resulted in significantly thicker choroids after an hour.²⁵ The changes in choroid thickness are believed to be modulated by ON/OFF pathways in the eye. Figure 2 shows the change in choroid thickness between the two different contrast profiles.



Figure 2: The average difference in choroid thickness in the foveal region after one hour. Stimulation of the OFF pathway resulted in average choroidal thinning of 16.3 μ m. Stimulation of the ON pathway resulted in choroid thickening of 10.0 μ m. ²⁵

Peripheral defocus

Peripheral defocus is a potential explanation for why near work activities increase the axial length of the eye.³ Peripheral defocus refers to unfocused light rays that hit the retina on either side of the fovea.⁴³ Hyperopic peripheral defocus, the condition where light is focused beyond the peripheral retina, has been indicated as a mechanism by which eye elongation occurs.⁴⁴ Figure 3 illustrates how hyperopic peripheral rays enter the eve. In marmosets. chickens, and tree shrews hyperopic peripheral blur induced by negative lenses resulted in the elongation of the eye.^{45, 46, 47} It is believed that peripheral hyperopic defocus is induced by the lag of accommodation that is created during near work activities.⁴⁴ Lags in accommodation occur when light from near objects is focused beyond the retina.^{42, 25} In near work activities such as reading, lags in accommodation may result from reduction in accommodation while the eye shifts focus quickly to read text.²⁵ There is still no clear consensus if lags in accommodation explain why hyperopic peripheral defocus increases the odds of myopia in humans. Chen et al. were unable to find a significant relationship between accommodative lag and myopic development. The researchers speculated in accordance with other studies that accommodative lag may be a result of myopic progression rather than a cause.^{48, 49, 25}



Figure 3: Myopic and hyperopic peripheral defocus on the retina⁵⁰

Dopamine signaling

Retinal dopamine release is one supported mechanism of eye growth. Within the eye, the increase of dopamine has been shown to reduce the rate of axial eye elongation in humans.^{28, 38, 51} Dopamine has been suggested to modulate the signaling between the retina and sclera.²⁸ High luminescence and image sharpness are two variables involved myopic prevention that have been associated with increasing retinal dopamine levels.²⁸ Dopamine influences eye growth in a multistep process. First light enters the eye through the lens, which refracts light onto the retina. In the retina, the light signal is received by amacrine cells, where dopamine is both synthesized and released.³⁸ The release of dopamine may limit the growth of the sclera through the upregulation of the ZENK/erg-1 transcription factor.²⁸ The sclera is the connective tissue making up the outer surface of the surface area of the sclera.⁵² Additionally, the choroid contains a high concentration of dopamine receptors and may modulate the movement of dopamine from amacrine cells in the retina to the sclera.²⁸ Dopamine has been shown to increase the thickness of the choroid, a biomarker of axial length maintainence.³⁸

The relationship between VR and myopia

The relationship between virtual reality headsets and the development of myopia is not well understood. Given the recency of VR technology, most of the studies investigating myopic development in VR have been published very recently. Based on background in the previous section, it would appear the near viewing distance, indoor use, and blurry image quality would implicate VR headsets as a myogenetic stimulus. VR headset safety documentation does not recommend headset use for young individuals. Oculus Quest 2 documentation states VR headsets may have adverse health effects during a, "critical period of visual development" and prolonged use should be avoided.⁵³ With evidence pointing to the protective aspects of VR on myopia as well, this section will aggregate the existing research to access the effects of VR on myopic development.

Virtual reality headsets create immersive experiences by placing a screen at near proximity to the eyes and creating binocular disparity by displaying an image in two different positions in front of each eye.⁵⁴ Current VR headsets have two convex fresnel lenses that bring the screen images into a closer field of view.⁵⁵ Each lens is designed to be adjusted to center on each user's eye to provide a detailed view. A design of a near eyed light field VR headset is displayed in figure 4.



Figure 4: Near eye light field display schematic. 54

Choroidal thickening in VR use

The use of VR headsets was found to induce choroidal thickening, indicating a protective effect against myopia.^{3, 56} Turnbull et al. found that after 40 minutes of VR use the choroid became thicker compared to real world outdoor and indoor exposure, figure 5 shows the results of the experiment.³ A study conducted by Harb et al. in 2019 found similar results. In two 40 minute trials, PC gaming resulted in choroidal thinning while similar gaming on a VR headset resulted in choroidal thickening.⁵⁶ One potential explanation for the increase in choroid thickness is the lead of accommodation imposed by VR headset viewing.^{3, 57} A lead in accommodation is where the eye is focused closer than the stimulus.⁴² Since VR lenses are set for distanced viewing in the vista space, 2-3 meters in front of the user, the eye is accommodated to distance.^{58, 59} When objects are magnified and brought into the personal space, the eyes need to converge in front of the screen to bring object into focus. The magnified convergence needed for near viewing in VR creates a lead of accommodation which results in myopic defocus.³ Being that choroidal thickening is associated with myopic defocus and reduced myopic progression, the greatest changes in choroidal thickness in the indoor virtual reality scene can be explained.⁶⁰ Since objects in the indoor scene are experienced more closely, greater convergence is needed, resulting in a greater lead of accommodation. In conjunction with the myopic protection of leads in accommodation, lags in accommodation show the opposite effect. Studies have found that accommodative lag induces hyperopic defocus, a stimulus for axial elongation.⁶¹



Figure 5: Subfoveal, parafoveal and perifoveal changes in choroid thickness between virtual reality indoor and outdoor environments.³

Improved visual acuity for myopic eyes

Panfili et al. found that visual acuity in VR did not decrease in myopes as it did for corrected eyes when compared against a 2D acuity test.⁶² In the study 15 participants, 10 with emmetropic or corrected vision were recruited to do an visual acuity test in both VR and 2D screen environments. It was found that when myopic participants did not use corrective instruments, they performed marginally better in the VR acuity test than the 2D screen acuity test. Figure 6 indicates the visual acuity differences found in the experiment. The moderate improvement in visual acuity for myopic participants may be a product of modified amplitudes of accommodation in myopia. The amplitude of accommodation is a measure of the furthest point of focus to the closest point of focus.⁶³ In myopic individuals the furthest point of focus is closer and thus clear far viewing distances would benefit the visual acuity of myopic individuals.





Vergence accommodation conflict

The lead of accommodation and the heightened visual acuity of distant objects in VR headsets can be explained by the vergence accommodation conflict (VAC). Vergence and accommodation are two depth cues that allow the eye to establish a sense of depth.⁶⁴ In VR headsets there is a mismatch between vergence and accommodation. Figure 7 illustrates the disparity implicated in the VAC. Current VR sets establish vergence depth by displaying shifted images between the right and left eye.⁶⁵ However, VR headsets are unable to accurately portray depth from accommodation. Since objects in VR are at a fixed depth of the screen distance from the eyes, objects cannot be viewed clearly at a close depth, figure 8 illustrates effect.⁶⁶ is not yet clear how the VAC affects myopic development in VR headsets. Turnbull et al. mention that VAC is responsible for creating the lead in accommodation which resulted in choroidal thickening. However the retinal blur created at

close VR viewing distances may increase myopic development by depriving users of sharp imagery.^{67, 28}



Figure 7: Vergence and focal distances between read world and Virtual reality headset viewing.⁶⁸



Figure 8: Difference between intended clarity and perceived clarity in a virtual reality headset. Perceived clarity at near viewing appears blurry due to the vergence accommodation conflict.⁵⁸

Blind spot stimulation

Stimulation of the ocular blind spot with short-wavelength blue light was found to be associated with reduced axial elongation in a phone mounted VR headset.⁶⁹ The study focused short-wavelength light onto the blind spot for 10 seconds, 1 minute, and 10 minute intervals. It was found that there was an increase in b-waves, and electrical signal produced by photoreceptors.⁷⁰ The increase in b-waves was positively associated with axial elongation. The paper noted that an increase of b-waves could indicate an increase of dopamine induced ON pathway stimulation. This stimulation has been associated with myopic reduction by increasing choroidal thickness.^{25, 71} The reported effect of exposing the blind spot to short wavelengths of light suggests that VR headsets can influence specific regions of the eye to induce dopamine mediated axial maintenance.

VR design recommendations

VR headsets are currently being designed and development for consumer use. Popular VR headsets feature immersive experiences with consideration for designing using depth, field of view, and interactions. However there has been limited focus onto how to design for myopia prevention. The following guidelines build off the research done on myopia interaction in near work and virtual reality use.

Break reminders

Software break reminders should be integrated into the VR interface to reduce the myogenetic stimulus of uninterrupted viewing. Reminders every 20-30 minutes for 10 minutes have been demonstrated to help reduce myopic progression.⁷² In 2019 the average

time of a VR session was 20 minutes.⁷³ This suggests that typical VR activities have a duration of around 20 minutes. Breaks in activities can thus be a good time to alert the user to remove the headset in an unaversive manner. Break reminders should be optional as to not create an annoyance for a user. Figure 9 illustrates possible design of a break reminder.

Reminder
Take this moment to take a break and go outside
Dismiss

Figure 9: A virtual reality pop out to remind users to take intermittent breaks between VR sessions.

Contrast

Developing the correct contrast settings in virtual reality can help reduce axial elongation. During reading presenting white text on a black background has been indicated to reduce the axial elongation greater than reading black text of black backgrounds.²⁵ Figure 10 shows the shift in contrast. While not all interface components are suitable for black backgrounds, options to toggle between white and black backgrounds should be available. Further it has been indicated that deprivation of image sharpness may be a myogenetic stimulus. As greater contrast can make images appear sharper, higher contrast ratios between colors should be used for items in focus.



Figure 10: White text on a black background and black text on a white background option for toggling between contrast profiles.

Depth-color adjustment

Different wavelengths of color can be used to bring objects into better focus at different depths. If a stimulus is located at a distance from the viewer, longer wavelengths such as red light will be focused better onto the retina. If the stimulus is located near the viewer, shorter wavelengths such as blue and violet light will be in better focus.⁴² This insight can be implemented by highlighting focused near objects with shorter color wavelengths to increase the level of object acuity.

Indoor scenes

Indoor virtual environments should be used opposed to outdoor environments in virtual reality to increase the degree of convergence in the presence of fixed accommodation displays.³ This effect would increase the lead of accommodation, a protective factor against myopia. Indoor environments can serve as lobbies and backdrops for different VR activities. Figure 11 displays a possible indoor scene that can be used in VR software development.



Figure 11: Indoor virtual reality scene set inside a forest cabin in Oculus Quest 2.

Resolving the vergence accommodation conflict

One of the primary issues with accommodation in current virtual reality headsets is close are shown out of focus. While this effect may create a lead of accommodation, a potentially protective affect against myopia, it does impose the issue that near work in VR cannot be performed. Further the VAC has been cited to cause fatigue, blurry vision, a discomfort during long viewing sessions.⁵⁹ Below are a solutions that will hopefully mitigate the VAC without imposing a myogenetic stimulus on the eyes.

Varifocal displays

Varifocal lenses offer a solution to the VAC by using eye tracking to adjust the focus of the lens to different depths. Two different methods have been indicated in the varifocal approach. The first way is to mechanically change the distance of the screen from the eyes the second is to adjust the focus of the lens itself. Based on the need for mechanical movement and the sound and power resources needed, changing the focus of the lens may be a better more efficient approach. In both instances eye tracking is used to determine

what object the user's eyes are verging on. Figure 12 shows the effect of varifocal lenses. A recent varifocal module designed by the Facebook reality labs team, created a lens system made of 6 polarized dependent lenses placed together with switchable half wave plates in between.⁵⁸ Using voltage each of the plates can be selectively turned on and off to adjust to the correct depth.



Figure 12: Near viewing in VR with Varifocal turned off and on.⁷⁴

Depth blur

To accompany precise depth focus, defocus blur is a necessary stimulus to facilitate eye accommodation in VR headsets^{75 76 77} As current VR systems have a single display, depth blur must be graphically rendered in real time. Cholewiak et al. report that rendered defocus blur might drive accommodation more effectively than optical methods.⁷⁸ A team at Facebook Reality Labs has developed a methodology called Deep work which utilizes a neural network image processing system to drive retinal defocus in real time. Once eye tracking is implemented into VR headsets the incorporation of retinal blur will help drive the accommodative response to correctly perceive the scale of depth of a stimulus.⁷⁹

Discussion

The design proposals in this paper combine the aggregated findings of how near work and VR headsets independently affect myopia progression. It was hypothesized that current VR headsets would create an increased myopic stimulus that is suggested in near work. However, based on the evaluated research, VR headsets may be helpful for myopia prevention. A possible explanation is proposed by Turnbull et al. stating that VR headsets may be helpful for myopia prevention by creating a lead of accommodation caused by excessive convergence. VR use resulted in the thickening of the choroid and improved visual acuity for myopes at far distances. At closer distances however, stimuli in VR appear blurry due to the vergence accommodation conflict. While no studies have been done on the effects of this blur on myopia, Feldkaemper et al. have shown that deprivation of sharp imagery is a stimulus for axial elongation, a biomarker of myopic progression. The current inability to focus on virtually close objects means that it is currently difficult to perform near work in VR. Much of the current development in virtual reality headsets is focused on addressing the inability to focus on virtually near objects by developing varifocal lenses, eye tracking, and peripheral blur. While this innovation will allow for alterations in accommodation to make near focused images clear, it is unclear if this development will remove the protective effects credited to the lead in accommodation seen in current VR headsets.

In addition to the hardware changes suggested, multiple software design recommendations were proposed. The incorporation of break reminders can act to reduce the total uninterrupted time spent in VR and serve as a cue for the user to obtain sun exposure. Reducing both VR duration and increase the amount of sunlight will help reduce myopic

21

progression in addition to alleviating eye strain. Displaying white text on a black background is another visual alteration that has been implicated as a method by which to reduce axial elongation. While not all content may be suitable for this inverted color arrangement, the option to turn on this dark mode should be available in reading situations. The use of indoor environments in current VR may further offer protection against myopia by making the user converge to a greater degree than in virtual outdoor environments. Turnbull et al. found that virtual indoor environments imposed the greatest change in choroid thickness when compared to virtual outdoor environments. There is no certainty that the design recommendations above will help prevent myopic development in VR headsets. None of the design recommendations presented have been isolated and tested for their effect on myopia in VR headsets. More research needs to be conducted on the effects of VR headsets on myopic progression. With greater research in this area, product developers will have greater insight into how to design VR headsets as they gain popularity in the coming years.

References

- 1. Isaac M. Meta spent \$10 billion on the metaverse in 2021, dragging down profit. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/02/technology/meta-facebook-earnings-metaverse.html. Published February 2, 2022. Accessed March 31, 2022.
- cycles T text provides general information S assumes no liability for the information given being complete or correct D to varying update, Statista. Topic: Virtual reality (VR). Statista. Accessed March 29, 2022. https://www.statista.com/topics/2532/virtual-reality-vr/
- 3. Turnbull PRK, Phillips JR. Ocular effects of virtual reality headset wear in young adults. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):16172. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16320-6
- 4. Saw SM, Chua WH, Hong CY, et al. Nearwork in Early-Onset Myopia. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2002;43(2):332-339.
- Mutti DO, Mitchell GL, Moeschberger ML, Jones LA, Zadnik K. Parental Myopia, Near Work, School Achievement, and Children's Refractive Error. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2002;43(12):3633-3640.
- 6. Ip JM, Saw SM, Rose KA, et al. Role of Near Work in Myopia: Findings in a Sample of Australian School Children. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2008;49(7):2903-2910. doi:10.1167/iovs.07-0804
- Huang HM, Chang DST, Pei-Chang Wu. The Association between Near Work Activities and Myopia in Children—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(10):e0140419. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140419
- Hepsen IF, Evereklioglu C, Bayramlar H. The effect of reading and near-work on the development of myopia in emmetropic boys: a prospective, controlled, three-year follow-up study. *Vision Research*. 2001;41(19):2511-2520. doi:10.1016/S0042-6989(01)00135-3
- 9. Huang HM, Chang DST, Wu PC. The Association between Near Work Activities and Myopia in Children—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(10):e0140419. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140419
- Nagata JM, Cortez CA, Cattle CJ, et al. Screen Time Use Among US Adolescents During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Findings From the Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development (ABCD) Study. *JAMA Pediatrics*. 2022;176(1):94-96. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.4334
- 11. Time Flies: U.S. Adults Now Spend Nearly Half a Day Interacting with Media. Accessed March 31, 2022. https://www.nielsen.com/us/en/insights/article/2018/time-flies-us-adults-now-spend-nearly-half-a-day-interactingwith-media
- 12. Refractive Errors | National Eye Institute. Accessed March 31, 2022. https://www.nei.nih.gov/learn-about-eye-health/eye-conditions-and-diseases/refractive-errors
- 13. World Health Organization. World Report on Vision. Published online October 8, 2019.
- 14. Bressler NM. Reducing the Progression of Myopia. JAMA. 2020;324(6):558-559. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.10953
- 15. Saw S. How blinding is pathological myopia? *Br J Ophthalmol*. 2006;90(5):525-526. doi:10.1136/bjo.2005.087999
- 16. ZHANG X, QU X, ZHOU X. Association between parental myopia and the risk of myopia in a child. *Exp Ther Med*. 2015;9(6):2420-2428. doi:10.3892/etm.2015.2415
- 17. Yingyong P. Risk factors for refractive errors in primary school children (6-12 years old) in Nakhon Pathom Province. *J Med Assoc Thai.* 2010;93(11):1288-1293.

- 18. Atchison DA, Jones CE, Schmid KL, et al. Eye Shape in Emmetropia and Myopia. *Investigative Ophthalmology* & Visual Science. 2004;45(10):3380-3386. doi:10.1167/iovs.04-0292
- 19. Wildsoet C, Wallman J. Choroidal and scleral mechanisms of compensation for spectacle lenses in chicks. *Vision Research*. 1995;35(9):1175-1194. doi:10.1016/0042-6989(94)00233-C
- 20. Fig. 1: Ocular shape changes in myopia. | Nature Reviews Disease Primers. Accessed April 15, 2022. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41572-020-00231-4/figures/1
- 21. Wen L, Cao Y, Cheng Q, et al. Objectively measured near work, outdoor exposure and myopia in children. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*. 2020;104(11):1542-1547. doi:10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-315258
- 22. Quek TPL, Chua CG, Chong CS, et al. Prevalence of refractive errors in teenage high school students in Singapore. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*. 2004;24(1):47-55. doi:10.1046/j.1475-1313.2003.00166.x
- 23. Li SM, Li SY, Kang MT, et al. Near Work Related Parameters and Myopia in Chinese Children: the Anyang Childhood Eye Study. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(8):e0134514. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0134514
- You X, Wang L, Tan H, et al. Near Work Related Behaviors Associated with Myopic Shifts among Primary School Students in the Jiading District of Shanghai: A School-Based One-Year Cohort Study. *PLOS ONE*. 2016;11(5):e0154671. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154671
- 25. Aleman AC, Wang M, Schaeffel F. Reading and Myopia: Contrast Polarity Matters. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):10840. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-28904-x
- 26. Huang L, Kawasaki H, Liu Y, Wang Z. The prevalence of myopia and the factors associated with it among university students in Nanjing. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2019;98(10):e14777. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000014777
- 27. Weiss S, Schaeffel F. Diurnal growth rhythms in the chicken eye: relation to myopia development and retinal dopamine levels. *J Comp Physiol A*. 1993;172(3):263-270. doi:10.1007/BF00216608
- 28. Feldkaemper M, Schaeffel F. An updated view on the role of dopamine in myopia. *Experimental Eye Research*. 2013;114:106-119. doi:10.1016/j.exer.2013.02.007
- 29. Sunlight exposure reduces myopia in children. American Academy of Ophthalmology. Published August 20, 2018. Accessed March 31, 2022. https://www.aao.org/editors-choice/sunlight-exposure-reduces-myopia-in-children
- Yang X, Yang Y, Wang Y, Wei Q, Ding H, Zhong X. Protective effects of sunlight exposure against PRK-induced myopia in infant rhesus monkeys. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*. 2021;41(4):911-921. doi:10.1111/opo.12826
- McKnight CM, Yazar S, Sherwin J, et al. An Objective Biomarker Of Ocular Sun Exposure Is Inversely Correlated With Myopia In Young Adults: The Raine Eye Health Study. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2012;53(14):2738.
- Ashby R, Ohlendorf A, Schaeffel F. The Effect of Ambient Illuminance on the Development of Deprivation Myopia in Chicks. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2009;50(11):5348-5354. doi:10.1167/iovs.09-3419
- Deng L, Pang Y. Effect of Outdoor Activities in Myopia Control: Meta-analysis of Clinical Studies. Optom Vis Sci. 2019;96(4):276-282. doi:10.1097/OPX.00000000001357
- Rose KA, Morgan IG, Smith W, Burlutsky G, Mitchell P, Saw SM. Myopia, Lifestyle, and Schooling in Students of Chinese Ethnicity in Singapore and Sydney. *Archives of Ophthalmology*. 2008;126(4):527-530. doi:10.1001/archopht.126.4.527

- 35. Sherwin JC, Reacher MH, Keogh RH, Khawaja AP, Mackey DA, Foster PJ. The association between time spent outdoors and myopia in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ophthalmology*. 2012;119(10):2141-2151. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2012.04.020
- 36. Dirani M, Tong L, Gazzard G, et al. Outdoor activity and myopia in Singapore teenage children. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*. 2009;93(8):997-1000. doi:10.1136/bjo.2008.150979
- 37. He M, Xiang F, Zeng Y, et al. Effect of Time Spent Outdoors at School on the Development of Myopia Among Children in China: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*. 2015;314(11):1142-1148. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.10803
- 38. Zhou X, Pardue MT, Iuvone PM, Qu J. Dopamine Signaling and Myopia Development: What Are the Key Challenges. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* 2017;61:60-71. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2017.06.003
- 39. Torii H, Kurihara T, Seko Y, et al. Violet Light Exposure Can Be a Preventive Strategy Against Myopia Progression. *EBioMedicine*. 2017;15:210-219. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.12.007
- 40. Strickland R, Landis EG, Pardue MT. Short-Wavelength (Violet) Light Protects Mice From Myopia Through Cone Signaling. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 61(2):13. doi:10.1167/iovs.61.2.13
- 41. Zhou L, Xing C, Qiang W, Hua C, Tong L. Low-intensity, long-wavelength red light slows the progression of myopia in children: an Eastern China-based cohort. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*. 2022;42(2):335-344. doi:10.1111/opo.12939
- 42. Labhishetty V, Cholewiak SA, Roorda A, Banks MS. Lags and leads of accommodation in humans: Fact or fiction? *Journal of Vision*. 2021;21(3):21. doi:10.1167/jov.21.3.21
- 43. Schippert R, Schaeffel F. Peripheral defocus does not necessarily affect central refractive development. *Vision Research*. 2006;46(22):3935-3940. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2006.05.008
- 44. Berntsen DA, Barr CD, Mutti DO, Zadnik K. Peripheral Defocus and Myopia Progression in Myopic Children Randomly Assigned to Wear Single Vision and Progressive Addition Lenses. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2013;54(8):5761-5770. doi:10.1167/iovs.13-11904
- Norton TT, Siegwart JT Jr, Amedo AO. Effectiveness of Hyperopic Defocus, Minimal Defocus, or Myopic Defocus in Competition with a Myopiagenic Stimulus in Tree Shrew Eyes. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2006;47(11):4687-4699. doi:10.1167/iovs.05-1369
- 46. Schaeffel F, Glasser A, Howland HC. Accommodation, refractive error and eye growth in chickens. *Vision Research*. 1988;28(5):639-657. doi:10.1016/0042-6989(88)90113-7
- 47. Benavente-Pérez A, Nour A, Troilo D. Axial Eye Growth and Refractive Error Development Can Be Modified by Exposing the Peripheral Retina to Relative Myopic or Hyperopic Defocus. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2014;55(10):6765-6773. doi:10.1167/iovs.14-14524
- 48. Chen Y, Drobe B, Zhang C, et al. Accommodation is unrelated to myopia progression in Chinese myopic children. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):12056. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-68859-6
- 49. Mutti DO, Mitchell GL, Jones-Jordan LA, et al. The Response AC/A Ratio Before and After the Onset of Myopia. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2017;58(3):1594-1602. doi:10.1167/iovs.16-19093
- 50. ABOM BS. Controlling Myopia In Children. Accessed April 19, 2022. https://www.2020mag.com/article/controlling-myopia-in-children-2
- 51. Chen JC, Brown B, Schmid KL. Evaluation of inner retinal function in myopia using oscillatory potentials of the multifocal electroretinogram. *Vision Research*. 2006;46(24):4096-4103. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2006.07.033
- 52. Backhouse S, Gentle A. Scleral remodelling in myopia and its manipulation: a review of recent advances in scleral strengthening and myopia control. *Annals of Eye Science*. 2018;3(1):5-5.

- 53. Oculus Quest 2 Safety Center | Oculus. Accessed April 8, 2022. https://www.oculus.com/safety-center/quest-2/
- 54. Huang FC, Chen K, Wetzstein G. Light Field Stereoscope. :12.
- Bang K, Jo Y, Chae M, Lee B. Lenslet VR: Thin, Flat and Wide-FOV Virtual Reality Display Using Fresnel Lens and Lenslet Array. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*. 2021;27(5):2545-2554. doi:10.1109/TVCG.2021.3067758
- 56. Harb EN, Godinez A, Davuluru S, Grimes J, Levi DM, Wildsoet CF. Changes in Choroidal Thickness Following Sustained VR Play. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2019;60(9):4340.
- 57. Mohamed Elias Z, Batumalai UM, Azmi ANH. Virtual reality games on accommodation and convergence. *Applied Ergonomics*. 2019;81:102879. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2019.102879
- IS&T Electronic Imaging (EI) Symposium. El 2020 Plenary: Quality Screen Time: Leveraging Computational Displays for Spatial Computing.; 2020. Accessed April 18, 2022. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LQwMAI9bGNY
- 59. Zabels R, Osmanis K, Narels M, et al. AR Displays: Next-Generation Technologies to Solve the Vergence– Accommodation Conflict. *Applied Sciences*. 2019;9(15):3147. doi:10.3390/app9153147
- 60. Chiang STH, Phillips JR, Backhouse S. Effect of retinal image defocus on the thickness of the human choroid. *Ophthalmic Physiol Opt.* 2015;35(4):405-413. doi:10.1111/opo.12218
- 61. Gwiazda J, Thorn F, Held R. Accommodation, Accommodative Convergence, and Response AC/A Ratios Before and at the Onset of Myopia in Children. *Optometry and Vision Science*. 2005;82(4):273-278. doi:10.1097/01.OPX.0000159363.07082.7D
- 62. Panfili L, Wimmer M, Krösl K. Myopia in Head-Worn Virtual Reality. In: 2021 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces Abstracts and Workshops (VRW). ; 2021:629-630. doi:10.1109/VRW52623.2021.00197
- 63. Amplitude of Accommodation an overview | ScienceDirect Topics. Accessed April 8, 2022. https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/amplitude-of-accommodation
- 64. Wismeijer DA, van Ee R, Erkelens CJ. Depth cues, rather than perceived depth, govern vergence. *Exp Brain Res.* 2008;184(1):61-70. doi:10.1007/s00221-007-1081-2
- 65. Xiong J, Hsiang EL, He Z, Zhan T, Wu ST. Augmented reality and virtual reality displays: emerging technologies and future perspectives. *Light Sci Appl*. 2021;10(1):216. doi:10.1038/s41377-021-00658-8
- 66. Matsuda N, Fix A, Lanman D. Focal surface displays. *ACM Trans Graph*. 2017;36(4):1-14. doi:10.1145/3072959.3073590
- 67. Maiello G, Kerber KL, Thorn F, Bex PJ, Vera-Diaz FA. Vergence driven accommodation with simulated disparity in myopia and emmetropia. *Experimental Eye Research*. 2018;166:96-105. doi:10.1016/j.exer.2017.10.004
- 68. Clay V, König P, König S. Eye Tracking in Virtual Reality. *J Eye Mov Res.* 12(1):10.16910/jemr.12.1.3. doi:10.16910/jemr.12.1.3
- 69. Schilling T, Amorim-de-Sousa A, A Wong N, Bahmani H, González-Méijome JM, Fernandes P. Increase in bwave amplitude after light stimulation of the blind spot is positively correlated with the axial length of myopic individuals. *Sci Rep.* 2022;12(1):4785. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-08319-5
- 70. Gupta SK, Chakraborty R, Verkicharla PK. Electroretinogram responses in myopia: a review. *Doc Ophthalmol.* Published online November 17, 2021. doi:10.1007/s10633-021-09857-5
- 71. Wang M, Aleman AC, Schaeffel F. Probing the Potency of Artificial Dynamic ON or OFF Stimuli to Inhibit Myopia Development. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2019;60(7):2599-2611. doi:10.1167/iovs.18-26471

- 72. Wu PC, Chen CT, Lin KK, et al. Myopia Prevention and Outdoor Light Intensity in a School-Based Cluster Randomized Trial. *Ophthalmology*. 2018;125(8):1239-1250. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2017.12.011
- 73. Average session time of VR users in the U.S. 2019. Statista. Accessed April 17, 2022. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1098976/average-session-time-of-vr-users-by-user-type/
- 74. Half Dome Updates: FRL Explores More Comfortable, Compact VR Prototypes for Work. Accessed April 20, 2022. https://www.oculus.com/blog/half-dome-updates-frl-explores-more-comfortable-compact-vr-prototypes-for-work/
- 75. Xiao L, Kaplanyan A, Fix A, Chapman M, Lanman D. DeepFocus: learned image synthesis for computational displays. *ACM Trans Graph*. 2018;37(6):1-13. doi:10.1145/3272127.3275032
- 76. Burge J, Geisler WS. Optimal defocus estimation in individual natural images. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2011;108(40):16849-16854. doi:10.1073/pnas.1108491108
- 77. Vishwanath D. The Utility of Defocus Blur in Binocular Depth Perception. *i-Perception*. 2012;3:541-546. doi:10.1068/i0544ic
- 78. Cholewiak SA, Love GD, Banks MS. Creating correct blur and its effect on accommodation. *Journal of Vision*. 2018;18(9).
- 79. HELD RT, COOPER EA, O'BRIEN JF, BANKS MS. Using Blur to Affect Perceived Distance and Size. ACM Trans Graph. 2010;29(2):19. doi:10.1145/1731047.1731057